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1. Introduction  to the Estates 

 

This piece of writing attempts to tell some of the stories about six old 

estates that lay to the east of Port Glasgow in the nineteenth century and 

eventually got swallowed up in the town in the twentieth century. Initially 

the estates lay in Kilmacolm Parish before being incorporated by Port 

Glasgow as Port Glasgow moved eastwards. The stories will deal with the 

topics of brutal murders, infanticide, great wealth and great poverty, 

mainly in the times of the mid to late nineteenth century when Port 

Glasgow was rapidly changing as industry grew, and outside influences 

such as the railways made their mark. 

 

Three of the estates (Fyfe Park, Nether Auchenleck and Carnegie Park) 

were coastal estates belonging to gentlemen farmers. They  stretched 

from the western boundary of Fyfe Park Estate at the Clune Brae Burn to 

the Carnegie Park Estate boundary at the east side of the present-day 

cemetery at Heggies Avenue. These smallish estates of about twenty-five 

acres or so were owned by men who made their living market gardening 

or rope making. 

 

The other three estates (Broadfield, Woodhall and Broadstone) belonged 

to what was commonly called landed gentry. These larger estates of up to 

sixty acres lay to the south of the River Clyde in the slopes that steeply 

rose from the river edge. These were owned by very rich men who had 

money from large industrial enterprises, or lived off the rents of the farms 

attached to the estates. They distinguished themselves by the large houses 

they lived in and the sports they followed. 
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None of these estates now exists. Port Glasgow, as a town built and 

positioned on a narrow coastal strip on a raised beach left over from the 

Ice Age, tried to accommodate the growth in population resulting from a 

booming economy after the start of the nineteenth century.  

 

Port Glasgow was hemmed in by the river to the north, the hills behind it, 

and by Greenock to the west, so the town could not move north, south or 

west. The best expansion land was to the east. The old boundary for the 

town had been the Kilmacolm Parish boundary that went from the River 

Clyde, through Clune Park (formerly Plantation) and up to the top of 

Clune Brae. An often-used expression to describe this expansion was that 

the Port was ñslipping up the Clydeò. The town boundary was pushed 

back east to Heggies Avenue in 1915 and further to eventually to swallow 

all six estates. 

 

 

2. A Chronology of the Six Port Glasgow Estates 

 

The history of the grounds taken up by the six estates goes back to the 

times of the Barony lands that were held by nobles and their families. The 

main Barony (Finlaystone) in this part of Renfrewshire was that owned 

by the Dennistouns.  

 

 
The essentials of Royôs Map 1751 

 

In 1406 a daughter of the living Baron married a Maxwell, and as part of 

the dowry a barony was carved out of the Finlaystone-Maxwell Barony 
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for the newly weds.  This Barony of Nether Finlayston stretched west of 

the burn that flows from the south to the River Clyde past the east side of 

the modern Clune Park School to Inchgreen in the west. This was 

renamed the Barony of Newark. Eventually the Burghers of Glasgow set 

up the Port of Glasgow in the Barony from 1668 after striking a deal with 

Patrick Maxwell of Newark.  

 

The land to the east of this new Barony and Port Glasgow was still very 

rural. The map above shows the essence of Royôs map drawn in 1751 of 

the Finlayston Estate east of the Newark Barony. Where the three coastal 

estates were to appear there is Auchenleck Farm. There is also a farm 

called Broadfield, but there are no sign of any gentry estates. 

 

The coastal estates appear to be created after 1767 as the result of the 

springing up of a new local industry that was set up by a Port Glasgow 

entrepreneur, Mr Hamilton of Wishaw, who owned Newark Estate. He 

started and encouraged the market gardening industry in 1767 when he 

leased the foreshore as far as Inchgreen. He feued one-acre plots at £40 a 

year and a £2 feu. Newark Castle gardens were let out as market gardens, 

the gardeners living in the castle. Hamilton himself had a willow 

plantation at Bogston 

 

Port Glasgow became famous for its fruit. There were seven market 

gardeners at least. Charles Williamson occupied the Castle garden in the 

Newark Barony which extended from Blackstone to the Glasgow 

tollhouse. William Foot (famed for his plums) had his garden from 

Ashgrove Lane to Clune Brae foot in the Newark Barony. The high walls 

suited wall trees. John Yeats had Carnegie Gardens (one of the coastal 

estates), was set up along the River Clydeôs bank in the Finlaystone 

Barony. All market gardeners brought their fruit daily to the Steamboat 

Quay for the Glasgow trip on the Helensburgh boat. The quicker transit to 

Glasgow, which became possible when river steamers commenced, 

caused great activity in this business. 

 

So the market gardening seems to have initiated the creation of the three 

coastal estates with their flat ground and many burns. They appeared all 

to be about 25 acres in area each. These were west to east, Fyfe Park, 

Nether Auchenleck and Carnegie Park.  

 

Substantial houses were set up on the three estates. We have a description 

for Carnegie Park: 
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TO LET, FURNISHED, ENTRY IMMEDIATELY, THE HOUSE 

AND OFFICES OF CARNEGIE PARK, 

Consisting of: three public rooms and five bedrooms, with kitchen, 

pantry, larder, washing house and laundry, cow house, &c. The 

house is pleasantly situated on the banks of the Clyde, within a 

mile of Port-Glasgow. 

For particulars, apply to J. Foster King, Esq., or James Lade, 

Writer, Port-Glasgow.  

10th October, 1846, Greenock Advertiser. 

 

Fruit growing lasted for at least seventy years till the coming of the 

railways diminished the fruit business from 1841. Fruit was still an 

income for Carnegie as can be seen by the following prosecution 

 

1899 12
th
 October. THEFT OF FRUIT AT PORT GLASGOW. 

Four lads from Port-Glasgow named Robert M'Allister, John Bell, 

James Herrington, and Donald Livingstone, were charged with 

stealing six lbs. of apples and pears from the Carnegie market 

garden occupied by Mr Alex MóLaren on Tuesday, 3rd October. 

Accused pleaded guilty. The Fiscal (Mr William Auld) stated that 

accused had been caught in the garden. One of them had a basket 

in his possession full of apples. The lads were off work that day on 

account of the rain. Justice Tannahill said that this common offence 

must be put down. The sentence was 5s fine each or three days 

imprisonment, and if any other lad was brought up he would be 

whipped. Greenock Telegraph 

 

 
The six estates outlined in green 
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The three so called gentry estates had very different origins. These three 

estates were Broadfield, Woodhall and Broadstone.  

 

Broadfield Estate was the first of these larger estates to be created. It is 

noted that the Finlaystone Estate granted to the Broadfield feuer, Dr 

Molli son, was about one hundred and eight acres in extent. A large house 

was built in 1762. This was lived in till a new mansion house was built 

about 1800, incorporating the older house in the back. This house 

remained till it was demolished about 1948-9. The estate had extensive 

stabling and even a family tomb. 

 

Woodhall Estate was carved out of the Broadfield Estate by a local ship-

owner who built a modern mansion there in 1866. It was about 56 acres 

in extent.  

 

Broadstone Estate was about 30 acres and was carved out of Oakbank 

Farm, one of the farms that supported the Broadfield Estate. It was 

created by a local business man, John Birkmyre, who was a partner of the 

Gourock Ropeworks. John had the house or castle built in 1871 and it 

lasted through to the 1970s. 

 

These three estates were distinguished by the signs of opulence of their 

houses and the pastimes of their owner 

 

3. Broadfield, Woodhall, and Broadstone Estates and their 

Magnificent Houses 

 

One of the major feature differences between the coastal estates and the 

gentry estates was the size and extravagances seen in the large houses of 

the gentry estates. 

 

Starting with Broadfield Mansion, the oldest of the houses.  

 

The Broadfield name was originally applied to a farm forming part of the 

Barony of Finlaystone, the rental of which, in 1495 was £26.  In 1762 the 

13th Earl of Glencairn let for fifty-seven years 108 Scots acres of the 

lands of Broadfield and Blackston to Dr. Molloson of Port-Glasgow at a 

rent of £22 on which he built a house, forming the back part of the 

present house. A Blackston House shows up on Royôs map but there are 

few records of the house itself. It appears to be to the south of Broadfield.  
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The Rev. Mr Brown, in his Statistical Account of the parish in the 18
th
 

century, claims Dr Mollesonôs work on the estate as  

ñthe most remarkable piece of improvement in this parish. On the 

farm of Broadfield he has built an elegant house. He has 

judiciously subdivided and enclosed the lands with thorn-hedges 

and belts of planting. Though of a shallow soil, it now yields a 

plentiful crop of oats, barley, beans, and grass of various kinds. His 

garden produces the plants and flowers common in the climate, and 

he raises many from foreign countries which are useful in the line 

of his profession as a Doctor. These improvements do much 

honour to his judgment and taste. The lands were in a state of 

nature within these thirty years.ò  

 

The estate was supported by four farms. They are Park Farm, Oakbank 

Farm (56 acres), Parklea Farm (60 acres) and Parkhill Farm (110 acres). 

Broadfield was then renovated round about 1800 by the Crawfurd Family. 

 

A military fact about Broadfield was that in the 1850s and before there 

was a gun emplacement on the ridge to the west of the house that had six 

iron guns. It was understood the guns were there to protect Dumbarton 

Castle from attack from the river. 

 

 
Broadfield House in 1893 (Unknown) 

 

A photograph of 1893 gives a good overview. The estate and house were 

situated on the coast of the Parish of Kilmacolm, near the main road 

leading from Renfrew to Port Glasgow, and overlooking the River Clyde. 
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The mansion was built in the beginning of the 19th century (circa 1800), 

and was long occupied by Mr. John Crawfurd of Park. The main entrance 

is a very handsome porch, with Corinthian pillars and pilasters and a very 

elegant iron balustrade. The windows were sheets of plate glass. There is 

filigreed ironwork shown in a fence around the base of the building and 

flower boxes on each of the middle floor windows at the front and side. 

The roof also has a surround of fine cast iron filigree at two levels. 

 

The house is surrounded by many fine old trees and an extensive view of 

the river and of the Dunbartonshire coast may be obtained from the upper 

windows of the mansion. 

 

 Broadfield in 1918 was bought by the consul for Greece and when he 

died in 1923 it became the Broadfield Hospital.  It was stated as 60 acres. 

It was bought in 1929 by Paisley Council and used as a mental asylum 

along with Broadstone House that will be discussed later. 

 

Woodhall  

This estate was created in 1866 by Mr Blackwood who was a co-owner of 

the shipbuilding firm Blackwood and Gordon who were situated at where 

Lamontôs Yard was in Port Glasgow.  

 

Blackwoodôs fortunes rose when Blackwood & Gordon, in 1860, 

removed from Paisley to Port Glasgow. Their move from Paisley was in 

order to build larger ships.They purchased a portion of what had been the 

gardens of Newark Castle, and formed a shipyard. In 1862 an engine shop 

was added to Blackwood & Gordon using the Springfield walled garden 

on the Newark estate. 

 

This yard was typical of what at the time was considered the best method 

of conducting shipbuilding, in so far that it was self-contained having a 

dock for fitting-out purposes and a boiler shop and foundry. For a time 

this method was successful, but gradually specialisation took place. 

 

 Large businesses grew up for constructing engines or boilers and 

castings, with which firms whose annual output was small could not 

compete. As machinery became more complicated and expensive, 

engineering could only pay if the machinery was fully employed, and this 

could not be done if only a few sets of engines were built in a year. The 

firm continued till 1885 when it failed. Blackwood later managed to 

revive the company in 1887. He died at Glenclune in 1891 having sold 

Woodhall prior to that and having stayed there for twenty five years. 
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In 1864 there were no thoughts of failure.  The Blackwoods were living at 

Glenclune, a house on the Fyfe Park Estate near Clune Brae that 

overlooked his new shipyard. He decided he would build a dramatic 

mansion. He agreed to create an estate out of the Broadfield Estate and 

build a mansion there and so he called in a young English architect to 

construct the mansion for him. He was Frederick Thomas Pilkington 

(1832-1898). He was aged 34 when he designed and built Woodhall 

Mansion. He at this time was considered one of the leading, avant-garde 

architects in Scotland.  

 

Frederick was born in Stamford (Lincolnshire, England), the son of an 

architect who took his family to Edinburgh in 1854 when Frederick was 

22. setting up an office in the New Town. The young Pilkington studied 

mathematics and logic at the University of Edinburgh but, despite being 

an excellent student, seems never to have got round to graduating. His 

wife died in childbirth in 1861 when Frederick was 29 and he married 

again just five months later. 

 

Fredrick Thomas Pilkington moved from England in 1854. That was the 

year after John Ruskin gave his first public lecture on architecture and 

painting in the city. Pilkington never met Ruskin but he took in and used 

Ruskinôs ideas.  

 

Ruskin wanted Gothic architecture with its plentiful ornateness. ñThe 

Gothic stands out in prickly independence, and frosty fortitude, jutting 

into crockets, and freezing into pinnacles; starting up into a monster, 

there germinating into a blossom: anon knitting itself into a branch, 

alternately thorny, bossy, and bristly, or writhed into every form of 

nervous entanglement; but even when most graceful, never for an instant 

languid, always quickset; erring, if at all, ever on the side of brusquerie.ò  

 

Pilkington is said to have worked as inspiration came to him, often 

getting up in the middle of the night to sketch ideas. He had a taste for 

music and fine furniture. On 10 March 1861 Pilkington's first wife died in 

childbirth, and he married Elizabeth Cropley from Ely five months later, 

first with a house at 27 St Bernard Crescent and then at 14 Cumin Place 

later in the same year.  

 

Pilkington designed 18 churches, the majority for the Free Church of 

Scotland. He built quite original churches, surmounted by over heavy 

perhaps, sharp steeples, in Kelso, Irvine and Dundee. 
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Irvine Church (Unknown) 

 

 
Barclay Church Edinburgh (Unknown) 
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His masterpiece, however, is the Barclay Free Church of 1862-64 in 

Edinburgh  

 

He was an architect in Edinburgh from 1855 to 1883 when he went to 

London. He also built large houses before Woodhall such as Woodlea 

House 

 

  
Woodlea House (unknown) 

 

Woodhall was built in the same Gothic style that was described as 

ñbolshie, bloody-minded and perverse. And nobody was bolshier, etc., 

than Frederick Pilkington (though he may not have so considered 

himself). Nobody was less concerned about the canons of good taste.  

Edinburgh ð where Pilkingtonôs practice was based ðstill is full of his 

ferocious, bizarrely scaled, restlessly detailed clinics and houses and 

churchesò  

 

The cost of Woodhall was £50,000 or £60,000 to build.  The architectural 

beauty is evident from the photograph. A feature of the interior 

decoration was the ornate hand carved staircase and panelling and stained 

glass. The rooms were spacious and dignified.  It included stables and 

lodges and amounts to 56 acres laid out in attractive avenues and there 

was an ornamental pond. 
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Woodhall Mansion (unknown) 

 

The house was sold after Thomas Blackwoodós firm got into difficulties 

in 1887. In 1914 it was empty and offered for £20,000 and then £10,000 

and in 1934 at £4750. It eventually was bought by the Port Glasgow 

council and knocked down in 1936 to make way for social housing. 

 

In the 1950s the site of the mansion was taken over by St Martinôs church 

and a modern church eventually built there. 

. 

 
St Martins Church (Unknown) 
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Broadstone 

 

During the course of the nineteenth century Port Glasgow was the site of 

two or three powerful companies of international reputation. One of them 

was the Gourock Ropeworks that made canvas, sailcloth and rope goods.  

 

It originated as the Port Glasgow Rope & Duck Co., which was founded 

in 1736 in Port Glasgow. In 1797 it merged with the Gourock Ropework 

Co. (founded 1777) to form the Gourock Ropework Co. with its 

headquarters in Port Glasgow. William Birkmyre was associated with the 

company until he retired in 1860. In 1818 he was made a partner.  

 

The company gained a world-wide reputation in the manufacture of ropes, 

canvas and sailcloth. By the late nineteenth century the company was 

under the control of the sons of William Birkmyre. These were Henry 

Birkmyre (1832-1900) and his brother, John, who had become partners in 

the firm in 1853.  

 

William Birkmyre lived at Ashgrove House till 1862, not far from the 

Gourock Ropeworks and brought up his children there (including Henry 

and John). He died suddenly there in January 1862 aged 59. 

 

 
Ashgrove House (McLean Museum) 
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Ashgrove House was not a small house by any standard. It contained a 

dining room, a drawing room, a parlour and a store room. For sleeping 

arrangements it contained seven bed-rooms (one with a dressing room). 

There also was a bath-room and a kitchen. The house was surrounded by 

orchards. There were the Castle gardens and the Springhill walled garden 

of Mrs Montgomerie. 

 

John and his family moved out from Ashgrove House on his fatherôs 

death in 1862 and moved to Glenclune where we find him in 1865, living 

next door to the Thomas Blackwood family before they moved to 

Woodhall in 1866.  

 

Glenclune was a large self-contained villa consisting of a dining room, a 

drawing room, 4 bed rooms and a servantsô room. There was a kitchen, a 

bath room, and other conveniences. It had a beautiful view of the Clyde, 

and is situated within a mile of the railway station and less than half a 

mile to the Gourock Ropeworks where John worked with Henry. 

 

 
John Birkmyre (unknown) 

 

About 1870 John decided he would build a family home to match his 

wealth and position. He bought an estate of about thirty acres that was 

majority of the land of Oakbank Farm. This was immediately east of the 

Woodhall estate of Thomas Blackwood with the entrance driveway 

coming from the Middle Road that led to Glasgow.  

 

He then looked for an architect to fulfil his vision of a baronial mansion. 

He chose David Bryce (1803ï1876). John wanted a house with the some 

of the character and style of Newark Castle and not the very modern 
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Woodhall Mansion. He would have looked at what David Bryce (who 

was 67 in 1870, compared to Frederick Pilkington who was 34) had done 

previously, and the latest example to study was Ballikinrain Castle.  

 

 
Ballikinrain Castle (unknown) 

 

David had designed and built the Castle in 1868 for Sir Archibald Orr-

Ewing, (1818ï1893) a Conservative Party politician. Sir Archibald had 

commissioned David Bryce to design a new house in the Scottish 

Baronial style, for his 4,500-acre estate.  

 

 
Broadstone House 
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Broadstone House is a Baronial Renaissance house with details based on 

Newark Castle. The building was originally constructed with greyish-

pink, square snecked sandstone. It had a high entrance tower, turreted on 

the north-west, with some finely carved and inscribed eaves and dormers, 

and the rather special stone-framed conservatory, part of which, 

octagonal in plan had a glazed dome and one cupola. 

 

In 1870 when the house was built a more modern spelling was used for 

the message from Newark Castle. ñThe blessing of God is herein,ò 

inscribed over the main doorway of Broadstone; and on a tablet above the 

door inside the hall is the inscription: ñThis house was built by John 

Birkmyre and Helen his wife in the year of our Lord, 1870. Except the 

Lord build the house, they labour in vain who build it.ò 

 

The house is set in a large estate 

 

 
The Estate and House (Unknown) 

 

Broadstone was a bare hillside of farmland. The estate became richly 

wooded, and the well-trimmed lawns were nowhere bettered. John 

Birkmyreôs wife with her own hands planted nearly every tree on the 

estate, assisted by her gardeners and foresters. It was one of the pleasures 

of her life to see these trees come to full fruition, and become the 

habitation of the birds, as well as providing abundant cover for ground 

game. 
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How could John Birkmyre afford to build such a large house as 

Broadstone? 

 

Fortunately there is evidence that can let us know how. In the Glasgow 

University Archives there are detailed recordings of the business 

arrangements within the Gourock Ropeworks. They show how individual 

partners shared in the returns for their investments from the company. In 

the case of Gourock Ropeworks detailed annual earnings are available.  

For the six years from 1885 to 1890 they give real insight.  

 

First of all who owned the company?At the beginning of 1885 there were 

four partners and their share of the company was as follows 

 Colin Campbell  33.0 % 

 John Birkmyre  29.3 % 

 Henry Birkmyre  29.3 % 

 William Birkmyre     8.0 % 

(In 1886 Colin Campbell died and his two sons, William Middleton 

Campbell and Henry Campbell) split Colinôs shares. Each has 16.5%) 

 

How do you make the calculation of who gets what each year?At the end 

of each trading year the company balanced liabilities and assets and if 

there are profits (as there should be) the partners would share them 

amongst themselves in proportion to their stock ownership.   

 

Gourock Ropeworks Company Board seems to be prudent. It did not 

want the total profit for each year to be given out to the directors because 

they wanted reserves left in case the company suffered a setback during 

their next fiscal year. So they set the stock value of the company for the 

end of each year to be £150,000 pounds. After you took that £150,000 off 

of the gross cash in the company what was left is what the directors could 

share from that year.  

 

The gross profits, the amount to be shared and John Birkmyreôs share are 

as follows for the six years. 

 Year  Gross Profit  Amount    John Birkmyre 

      To share     at 29.3% 

 1885  £186,000  £36,000     £10,500  

 1886  £162,000  £12,000      £3,500 

 1887  £153,750    £3,750      £1,100 

 1888  £175,200  £25,200      £7,400 

 1889  £198,000  £48,000    £14,000 

 1990  £181,000  £31,000      £9,100 
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So in total John Birkmyre receives £46,600 over the six years. This gives 

him over £7,750 per year. This is equivalent to approximately, in modern 

values, £775,000 per year 

 

So there was plenty of money for Johnôs Broadstone Castle,  

 

Eventually Broadstone House was not lived in by the Birkmyres. 

Broadstone House was bought by Paisley Corporation in 1929, to cater 

for mentally deficient women and juveniles, and from then on both it and 

Broadfield House were run as a single hospital of whatever name. It 

served for many years as a psychiatric institution, when it was known as 

Broadfield Hospital, It was transferred to the National Health Service in 

1948 and was closed in 1985 and the building was sold by auction in 

2001. Now known as The Castle, its refurbishment was to form the 

centrepiece of the Castlebank residential development began in 2001 by 

Muir Homes. However, in 2004, a fire reduced the house to a shell (it was 

gutted by fire in July 2007 as well) and restoration is not expected to be 

complete before 2020. 
 

4. Prominent Citizens who lived on the Estates and their Legacies 

 

Fyfe Park Estate  

This estate had two noteworthy owners who contributed to the town, and 

in one case, to the world. 

 
The first family of note were the Fyfes. The Fyfes were very much 

involved with the Fyfe Park estate in its creation and gave their names to 

the Estate. They had lived there from the 1770s and were in the business 

of ropemaking or ropespinning.  

 

Robert Fyfe, who died in 1859, was a frustrated inventor. Robert Davie, a 

well known Port Glasgow historian, told the story of seeing in 1840 the 

first propeller driven ship, the Archimedes pass up the river on her first 

trip to Glasgow. ñA few days thereafter I was out at Fyfe Park, and 

speaking to old Mr Robert Fyfe, ropespinner, about the Archimedes, he 

said, óI will show you a screw steamerô. So he brought a model, about 

two feet long, which he had made many years before, covered all over 

with dust, and his idea of a screw propeller was one the whole length of 

the boat placed in the bottom, reaching from stem to stern. It commenced 

very small at the stem, increasing in diameter until it reached midships, 

when it became gradually smaller again towards the stern.ò 
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He was also a very down to earth type of a man. He became a Councillor 

in Port Glasgow. Councillor Fyfe was then made a Bailie to dispense 

justice to the law-breakers of the town. He opened his first Court with 

prayer, and the first case brought before him was a woman charged with 

breaking the peace. The Bailie fined her half-a-crown, and paid it himself.  

An account of the eccentricities of a Port Bailie was published in all the 

newspapers. People sneered and called the Bailie a foolish old man, but 

he was considered quite a big piece of the salt of the earth. 

 

One of his sons, Councillor William Fyfe, who lived at Fyfe Park Estate, 

was a prominent business man. His grandfather and father were 

ropemakers at Fyfe Park. He himself was a painter. He had a shop in 

Dockhead then a shop in Bay Street at the foot of Customs House Lane. 

He was an elder in the Parish Church and a superintendent in the Parish 

school.  He was six years a Councillor and then a Baillie in the town. He 

reached the good age of 62 and was twice married. He died in 1877. 

 

The Fyfe family will return in these stories later but not in a pleasant way. 

 

A second family lived on the Fyfe Park Estate and the member who is of 

interest was James MôIntyre, a famous builder of Blockade Runners for 

the American Civil War.   

 

He served his apprenticeship in Barclay Curle and Co. in Glasgow. He 

was the manager of the ship department. He became best known as a as 

an iron ship builder. He started business in a shipyard in the Port Glasgow 

Wet Dock with Mr Kilpatrick. The Bay Yard, which is the property of the 

Port Glasgow Harbour Trust, has had many tenants. In 1864 Kirkpatrick 

& McIntyre commenced. They built several fine blockade runners during 

the American Civil War. Two of them had very appropriate names, Let 

Her Rip was a sleek paddle steamer of 800 tons, with the following 

dimensions. She was 231 foot long, 26 foot width and 12 feet deep. Her 

engines were 180 H.P. She was intended for the Nassau trade. There was 

also Let Her Run. Another ship they built was the Alexandria which was 

a paddle steamer that plied on the Thames. Kirkpatrick & McIntyre failed 

in 1865 although the name lasted till 1867. There were at the time one or 

two unfinished ships on the stocks. The trustees looked about for 

someone to take over the vessels and complete them, and arranged with 

Messrs. William and John Hamilton to do this. They remained in the Bay 

Yard till 1873. MôIntyre became associated with Hamilton and Co. He 

also was involved with Smith and MôIntyre with whom he launched a 

steam yacht.   
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In June 1877 James MôIntyre died suddenly at Fyfe Park. He was born in 

1827.  He was at work measuring a yacht with a member of the Board of 

Trade. He was unfortunate enough to fall among the shipôs ballast. Dr 

Grieve and Doctor Crawford were called and Mr MôIntyre was taken to 

his house in Fyfe Park. He never rallied, and died. Mr MôIntyre reached 

the good age of fifty. 

 

The following is a list of most of the ships he built:  

 
- GREYHOUND, 1863, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship 

 

The ss Greyhoundôs fate was typical of blockade runners. 

 

In 1864 in Nassau the last American arrival brings intelligence that the SS 

Greyhound, which was built by Messrs Kirkpatrick & MóIntyre, Port-

Glasgow, and engined by Messrs Caird and Co. here, had sailed from 

Nassau on her maiden trip for Wilmington. It had been built for Robert 

Little and he had sold it to Liverpool Shippers. In 1865 it had been 

captured and the SS Greyhound was sold in New York for $110,000. It 

was 583 tons and captured whilst trying to run the blockade 

 
-ARRAN CASTLE, 1864, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Paddle Steamer. 

- ERIN, 1864, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Paddle Steamer. 

- ALEXANDRIA, 1865, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship. 

- WILLIAM TAYLOR, 1865, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship-

ECLAIR, 1865, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Passenger Cargo Ship. 

- LEIKA, 1865, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Yacht 

- LEVAN, 1866, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship. 

- UNDINE, 1866, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Passenger Ship. 

- HOPEFUL, 1866, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship. 

- JACINTH, 1866, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Steamship. 

- SALADO, 1866, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Clipper. 

- LAKE CONSTANCE, 1867, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Barque. 

 

In 1867 his daughter was given the honour of launching a ship. There was 

a launch at Kilpatrick and MôIntyre Co of Port Glasgow of a clipper 

barque of 500 tons and length of 125 feet. It was named the Lake 

Constance by Miss Isabella MôIntyre who lived at Fyfe Park. This ship 

was the third of its design built by the ship yard. 
 

 

- RIVER AVON, 1867, Kilpatrick & McIntyre Port Glasgow, Barque. 
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Nether Auchenleck 
There was only one house on the estate. The estate was owned by various 

landowners over time, who enjoyed the house and quiet surrounds of the 

river.  

 

Carnegie and Carnegie Park 

Owned by an absentee landlord who leased the estate for market 

gardening and dairy produce. There were three houses on the estate, 

Kilburn Cottage, Carnegie and Carnegie Park. 

 

Broadfield 
One of the most famous persons to be associated with Port Glasgow was 

General Sir Francis Reginald Wingate  

 

 
 

Lord Kitchener and General Wingate (Wikemedia Commons) 

 

General Sir Francis Reginald Wingate was born at Broadfield House on 

the 25
th
 June 1861, the seventh son of Andrew Wingate a textile merchant 

of Glasgow, and Elizabeth, daughter of Richard Turner of Dublin. 
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The family had lived at Broadfield since before 1845, a period of fifteen 

years or more, and all Sir Francisôs sisters and brothers were born there. 

He was in a family of twelve.  

 

Jane, his eldest sister married the Rev. Thomas Beaumont Walpole of St 

Maryôs Church, Port Glasgow in 1867.  This appears to be a very 

romantic wedding.  Beaumont, as he was usually called, had helped 

establish St Maryôs Episcopal Church in Port Glasgow which was 

supported by the Wingate family. Beaumontôs wife died in 1865 in Port 

Glasgow. Jane, at this time, had moved to Jersey in 1862 so Beaumont 

had to go to Jersey to woo and marry Jane for his second wife and bring 

her back to Port Glasgow. Beaumont died in 1871 in Port Glasgow. 

 

Two brothers (Richard and William) and two sisters (Bessie and Agnes) 

moved to India and one brother (Frederick) became a tea planter in 

Ceylon.  

 

Sir Francisôs father died in 1862 and the family moved from Broadfield in 

1862 to Jersey. He became the Sirdar of the Egyptian Army. Sir Francis 

lived till 1953. Queen Victoria was godmother to one of his daughters. 

 

A second family who stayed at Broadfield were the Somervilles who 

were related to the Birkmyres and in partnership in the owning of the 

New Lanark Mills. They stayed at Broadfield in the 1880s 

 

No matter who stayed at Broadfield there was always a strong love of fox 

hunting and Broadfield was a major stop or starting point for the 

Renfrewshire and Lanarkshire Hunt. 

 

 

Woodhall  
This estate was created by Thomas Blackwood in 1866 and he lived there 

with his family for about 21 years.  

 

Thomas Blackwood was born in 1819, the son of Walter Blackwood and 

his wife Christina Craig. His wife, Jane, was from Campsie in 

Stirlingshire and was 17 years his junior. He was born in Inchinnan.  He 

had six sons: Walter (1860s), Thomas (1864), John (1868) born 

Woodhall, Matthew (1871), Robert (1875) and Alexander (1874). He had 

four girls Janet (1865), Christina (1866) born at Glenclune, Jane (1867) 

and Margaret (1872). Of the ten children five were born at Woodhall.  

They lived well as they had five servants.  

 



 22 

Thomas was a shipbuilder and master iron founder, employing 630 men 

and 114 boys in 1881 in Blackwood and Gordon. In 1867 Mr Gordon had 

died, and the large concern was, until a few years ago, carried on under 

the sole proprietary of Blackwood. He was of quiet, unassuming 

disposition, and was deservedly held in the highest esteem by all classes 

of the community. He was a member of Princes Street U.P. Church, the 

schemes of which were always benefited by his large-hearted liberality. 

His demise removes one of the oldest and most familiar names from the 

list of Clyde shipbuilders. 

 

He built many ships but his business got into trouble in the period 1885 to 

1887. It appears that when this happened he may have had to leave the 

mansion at Woodhall and move into Glen Neuk. I think his business 

finally failed in 1891. Sometime after his death his widow moved to 

Forsyth Street in Greenock. He obviously has to get his credit the choice 

of the architect of the House. 

 

Thomas Blackwood was well known in the town but did not appear to 

join in with his two neighbours in their pursuits of fox hunting and 

shooting. He was well liked but quiet. 

 

Broadstone 

John Birkmyre built and occupied his estate in 1871. The family had been 

long associated with the town. 

 

Henry Birkmyre (1762- 1844) was the first Birkmyre to come to Port 

Glasgow. He worked as a handloom weaver in Kilbarchan, where in 1785 

he married his first cousin Agnes Birkmyre. After their marriage, Henry 

and Agnes attended Burntshields Burgher Church. The baptisms of three 

of their children, Jean in 1786, John in 1788 and Agnes in 1791, are 

recorded in Burntshields Church records. 

 

 In 1792 the family moved to Port Glasgow where Henry took up 

employment in a sailcloth manufactory. A fourth child, William, was 

born in Port Glasgow in 1802. The Birkmyres prospered in Port Glasgow. 

Henry soon rose to the position of foreman in Gourock Ropework Co. 

and was made a partner in the firm in 1814. His portrait, which still 

exists, was said to have hung in the companyôs boardroom. 

 

Henry sent his younger son, William, to Glasgow to be trained by city 

merchants. This early training paid off and, following in his fatherôs 

footsteps, William was appointed as a manager in the rope works.  
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In 1831 William married Margaret Aitken. William was regarded as a 

shrewd businessman and laid the foundations of the future success and 

world-wide expansion of Gourock Ropework Co. He retired in 1860 and 

died in 1862 in Ashgrove, the family home at the bottom of Clune Brae in 

Port Glasgow. Henry, his son, was born in 1832. Henry had five siblings: 

Archibald Birkmyre, Agnes Lithgow (born Birkmyre) and three other 

siblings. Two of Williamôs sons, Henry (b.1832) and John (b.1836) 

became partners in Gourock Ropework Co. A third son William (b.1838) 

spent some time in India, and pursued a political career, becoming MP for 

the Burgh of Ayr. A younger son, Adam (b.1848), attended to the 

familyôs business interests overseas. Under the brothersô control, Gourock 

Ropework Co. became renowned world-wide as manufacturers of rope, 

sail cloth and canvas. 

 

All four brothers became extremely wealthy and were generous 

benefactors in the local community. Henry was instrumental in founding 

Clune Park U.P. Church in 1878. In 1881, he diversified his interests and 

bought New Lanark Mills from the then owner, Charles Walker. Under 

the Birkmyre family, Gourock Ropework Co. owned David Daleôs new 

Lanark Mills for the next 65 years till 1946. 

 

 
Gourock Ropeworks (Unknown) 

 

John, in 1870, appointed David Bryce, a renowned architect, to build his 

baronial mansion, Broadstone House on the hills above Port Glasgow. In 

1905 Mr. and Mrs. John Birkmyre, of Broadstone, decided to build a 

hospital, which was much needed, as the hazardous nature of shipyard 

employment results in many accidents, and the advances of modern 

surgery for the cure and relief of many diseased conditions were not 
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available except in the large hospitals of Glasgow and Edinburgh. The 

Broadstone Jubilee Hospital, as it is called received its name from the fact 

that the donors had decided to establish this institution in commemoration 

of the jubilee of their wedding. The hospital was opened in 1907, and the 

cost of the buildings and equipment was about £35,000. The endowment 

fund from gifts by the donors and many others amounts at present to 

£39,679. This, with the annual subscriptions, enabled the institution to be 

kept up, and every necessary adjunct to improve its efficiency provided. 

The first visiting surgeon was Mr. Archibald Young, later Regius 

Professor of Surgery in Glasgow University.  

 

William, the third brother, spent time in India and pursued a political 

career, becoming MP for the Burgh of Ayr. He gifted Birkmyre Park 

(later known as the Public Park) to the town of Port Glasgow. Adam 

owned Shallott (now part of St. Columbaôs School buildings) and various 

other properties in Kilmacolm. In 1897, he gifted recreation grounds, now 

Birkmyre Park, to Kilmacolm village. He also had interests in Calcutta in 

India and in Switzerland, where he died in 1906. 

 

John Birkmyre was born in Port-Glasgow on the 9th of October, 1834. 

When he reached school ago he was sent to Buchanan's School in the 

Lodge Close in King Street, afterwards known as the Burgh School.  

 

When a lad of between fourteen and fifteen years of age, John entered the 

works of his father, the late William Birkmyre, who as Provost of the 

Burgh controlled in no small measure the destinies of Port Glasgow. The 

boys John and Henry worked hard. Henry was assumed as a partner, and 

so also was John while he was still under twenty years of age. 

 

William Birkmyre taught a large Sunday school class in the old Bouverie 

Hall. When William died in 1862, John took up the good work and over 

forty years when at home he has scarcely missed a Sunday night from his 

class in the old Bouverie school-room. During that time he has had the 

pleasure to see the families of three generations attend his class. 

 

No day in the whole year gave Mr John as much pleasure as when the 

past, the present, and the future members of his class had their annual trip 

to Broadstone. A large marquee was erected on the grounds where 

refreshments were provided in abundance. The girls were there with their 

skipping ropes. There was a band dispensing music, and a constant 

stream of brakes and carriages may be seen. All Bouverie turned out on 

these occasions, and they were all made welcome. 
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This was just the same as the yearly outing his wife used for years to give 

to the children of St Johnôs Church and School during the days of the 

good old Father Daniel Conway, and later in the days of Fathers 

MóCarthy and Ritchie. But so numerous had the children of St John's 

become that the good priests found the responsibility too great to let so 

many youngsters loose on the broad acres of Broadstone, and so that 

happy day in the lives of the children of St John was in consequence 

brought to a close. 

 

These annual events were taken note of outside Scotland. Mr and Mrs 

John Birkmyre were on a stay in Rome they were presented to the 

reigning Pope in the Vatican, and his Holiness granted them his blessing 

for he said they had been good to his people in Port-Glasgow. 

 

John Birkmyre was for many years President of the Port-Glasgow branch 

of the Liberal Association, and had with him as colleagues Joseph Russell 

and the Robert Duncan. On the historical occasion when Mr Gladstone 

declared for Home Rule for Ireland, John and Robert Duncan found it 

necessary to resign their connection with the Liberal Party, and they then 

both became members of the newly-homed Liberal Unionist Association. 

 

John was a keen sportsman that loved the sports of the gentry such as Fox 

hunting and shooting especially. 

 

There is a dark side to the Gourock Ropeworks and that was the 

association of one of the companyôs partners with money earned from 

slavery. This was Colin Campbell mentioned in the share analysis earlier. 

His father, Colin Murdoch Campbell, long the worthy head of the house 

of Campbell had been born in 1782 and died in 1863. Colin Senior also 

was a partner in the Gourock Ropeworks. His wife was painted by Henry 

Raeburn. 

 
Janet Millar, Mrs Colin Campbell of Colgrain 


